
 

 
February 12, 2024 Regular City Council Meeting Agenda 

 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

Monday, February 12, 2024 at 6:30 PM 
Pre- Meeting at  6:00 PM 

Council Chamber | 1953 Municipal Way  

AGENDA 

CALL TO ORDER 

PRAYER 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ROLL CALL 
Sophie Martin, Rick Ellis, Stacy Rakestraw, Greg Farrell, Jamie Cole, Zach Zahariadis, Kerri Pate 

MINUTES APPROVAL 

A. 01-22-2024 Minutes - Regular City Council Meeting 

B. 02-08-2024 Minutes - Work Session City Council 

AGENDA APPROVAL 

MAYOR BRAKEFIELD COMMENTS/PROCLAMATIONS 

C. Resolution 021224 Mayoral Beautification Board Appointments 

Appointing 3 members to Place A of the Alabaster Beautification Board with a terms 
expiring December 1, 2026. 

D. Arbor Day Proclamation 2024 

AGENDA ITEMS 

 *  Public Hearing on these Items ** Set Public Hearing on these Items 

1. *Ordinance 24-194 Amending Administrative Sections of the Zoning Ordinance of the City of 
Alabaster 

Public Hearing to amend various portions of the the Alabaster Zoning Ordinance. 

2. **Ordinance 24-195 Authorizing Franchise Agreement with Spectrum Southeast dba Charter 
Communications Inc 

Setting a public hearing for Monday, February 26, 2024 at 6:30 PM to consider approving 
the new 2024 Charter Franchise Agreement request. 

3. **Ordinance 24-196 Cancelling Delinquent Business Licenses on March 1 of Each Year 

Setting a public hearing for Monday, February 26, 2024 at 6:30 PM to amend Section 8-34 
of the Alabaster Code of Ordinances relating to business licenses. 

4. Resolution 021224-A Authorizing Agreement with ALDOT for Project No STPAA-003(655) 
and (656) 

Authorizing agreement with Alabama Department of Transportation for State paving 
project on US31 - Project #STPAA-003(655) and (656). 

5. Resolution 021224-B Declaring Items within Various Departments as Surplus 

Declaring surplus items within various departments within the City of Alabaster. 

6. Resolution 021224-C Authorizing Funding for 2024 Gone Fishin Not Just Wishin Event 

Page 1



 

 
February 12, 2024 Regular City Council Meeting Agenda 

Approving request to support the Exceptional Anglers event, Gone Fishin’, Not Just 
Wishin’, at Oak Mountain State Park on May 8-10, 2024 in the amount of $3,000. 

7. Resolution 021224-D Authorize and Accept Grant Application for Senior Center 

Authorizing the application and acceptance of the Shelby County Senior Grant to aid in 
funding programs and services for seniors in the community in the amount of $2,000. 

8. Resolution 021224-E Approving Issuance of ABC License -Lexy Express LLC dba I65 Chevron 

Approving a request for a 050 – Retail Beer (Off Premises Only) and 070 – Retail Wine (Off 
Premises Only) Alcohol License for Lexy Express LLC dba I65 Chevron at 1100 1ST ST S 
Alabaster, AL 35007. 

9. Resolution 021224-F Authorizing Agreements General Liability Workers Comp and Cyber 
Insurance 

Authorizing the Mayor to sign the 2024 insurance renewal agreements with AMIC for 
Liability Insurance, MWCF for Workers Comp Insurance, and RPS for Cyber Security 
Insurance with a cost not to exceed $985,421. 

10. Resolution 021224-G Authorizing Agreement with TrainFo 

Authorizing a one year pilot agreement with Train Crossing Communication System | 
TrainFo to provide a system which notifies Waze, Daktronics Message Boards, 911 Maps 
and ESRI ArcGIS the status of railroad crossings at a cost not to exceed $38,990. 

11. Resolution 021224-H Authorize and Accept Grant Applications for the City of Alabaster 

Authorizing City Departments to apply for and accept all grants for which there are no 
matching funds required by the city. 

12. Resolution 021224-I Approving Issuance of ABC License - Kent Kwik 920 

Approving a request for a 050 – Retail Beer (Off Premises Only) and 070 – Retail Wine (Off 
Premises Only) Alcohol License for Kent Stone Development LLC / Kent Kwik 920 at 1565 
Simmsville Rd  Alabaster, AL 35007. 

13. **Resolution 022624 Assessing Weed Abatement Cost for 1226 Thompson Rd 

Setting a public hearing for Monday, February 26, 2024 6:30 PM to place a lien on 
property located at 1226 Thompson Rd for weed abatement. 

14. Resolution 021224-J Street Lighting and Traffic Agreement 

Authorizing an agreement with Alabama Power relating to three traffic signals at Hwy 119 
at Fulton Springs Road, Smokey Road, Veteran’s Park, and two other signals at Patriots 
Park and Industrial and 1st Ave W at CR 17. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Please step to the podium and state your name and address for the record. 

COUNCIL COMMENTS 

WORK SESSION SCHEDULED FOR FEBRUARY 22, 2024 AT 6:00 PM 

ADJOURN MEETING 
 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, those requiring accommodation for Council meetings should 
notify the City Clerk’s Office at least 24 hours prior to the meeting by: 

Calling Office Number: 205-664-6800  
Or Visit: http://cityofalabaster.com/397/Americans-with-Disabilities-Act 

 

Page 2

http://cityofalabaster.com/397/Americans-with-Disabilities-Act


Book 78, Pg. -9- 

 
Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 1/22/2024 

 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

 Council Chamber | 1953 Municipal Way 
 Alabaster, AL 

 
January 22, 2024 

CALL TO ORDER 

The meeting was called to order at 6:00 PM and the Council organized for the Regular City Council 
Meeting which started at 6:30 PM with Council President Sophie Martin presiding. 

PRAYER 

Pastors Derrick Morrissette from the Mind of Christ International Church led the prayer. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Alabaster Boy Scout Troop 220 

ROLL CALL 
Sophie Martin, Rick Ellis, Stacy Rakestraw, Greg Farrell, Jamie Cole, Zach Zahariadis, Kerri Pate 

PRESENT 
Council Member - Ward 1 Sophie Martin 
Council Member - Ward 2 Rick Ellis 
Council Member - Ward 3 Stacy Rakestraw 
Council Member - Ward 4 Greg Farrell 
Council Member - Ward 5 Jamie Cole 
Council Member - Ward 6 Zach Zahariadis 
Council Member - Ward 7 Kerri Pate 

MINUTES APPROVAL 

A. 01-08-2024 Minutes - Regular City Council Meeting 

B. 01-18-2024 Minutes - Work Session City Council 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Seconded by Council Member - Ward 3 
Rakestraw. Minutes approved. 

AGENDA APPROVAL 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 7 Pate, Seconded by Council Member - Ward 5 Cole. 
Agenda approved. 

MAYOR BRAKEFIELD COMMENTS/PROCLAMATIONS 

COUNCIL REPORTS 

C. Library Report - December 2023 - Council Member Rick Ellis 

D. Public Works Monthly Report - December 2023 - Council Member Stacy Rakestraw 

E. AFD Monthly Report - December 2023 - Council Member Greg Farrell 

F. APD Monthly Activity Report - December 2023 - Council Member Zach Zahariadis 

G. Building and Engineering Monthly Report - December 2023 - Council Member Kerri Pate 

AGENDA ITEMS 

Page 3

Item #A.



Book 78, Pg. -10- 

 
Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 1/22/2024 

 *  Public Hearing on these Items ** Set Public Hearing on these Items 

1. *Ordinance 24-191 2024 Floodplain Ordinance 

Public Hearing to adopt the City of Alabaster's 2024 Floodplain Ordinance. 

Council President Sophie Martin called the public hearing to order and asked if anyone 
would like to speak in favor or against the ordinance. No one spoke for or against said 
ordinance. The public hearing was closed.  

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 5 Cole, Seconded by Council Member - Ward 3 
Rakestraw. Motion carried. Ordinance Adopted. 

2. Resolution 012224 Enter Agreement Gonzalez - Strength and Associates for Carmeuse 
Preliminary Engineering Project 

Authorizing an agreement with Gonzalez-Strength & Associates, Inc. (GSA) for a 
preliminary alignments and cross sections near the Carmeuse Quarry from US-31 to 
Massey Road in the amount not to exceed $23,500. 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Seconded by Council Member - Ward 
6 Zahariadis. Voting Yea: Council Member - Ward 1 Martin, Council Member - Ward 2 Ellis, 
Council Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw, Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Council Member 
- Ward 5 Cole, Council Member - Ward 6 Zahariadis, Council Member - Ward 7 Pate. 
Motion carried. 

3. Resolution 012224-A Supporting the Miss Alabama Outstanding Teen Pageant 2024 

Authorizing a funding request for the 2024 Miss Alabama's Outstanding Teen Pageant to 
be held at Thompson High School in the amount of $3,500 plus lunch provided by the City. 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 7 Pate, Seconded by Council Member - Ward 5 
Cole. Voting Yea: Council Member - Ward 1 Martin, Council Member - Ward 2 Ellis, Council 
Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw, Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Council Member - Ward 
5 Cole, Council Member - Ward 6 Zahariadis, Council Member - Ward 7 Pate. Motion 
carried. 

4. Resolution 012224-B Agreement with Sain and Associates Relating to Traffic Operations Study 
AL-119 and Kent Dairy Road 

Authorizing a professional services agreement with Sain and Associates to 
provide  professional traffic engineering services at the corner of Hwy 119 and Kent Dairy 
Rd at a cost not to exceed $9,500.00. 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 2 Ellis, Seconded by Council Member - Ward 4 
Farrell. Voting Yea: Council Member - Ward 1 Martin, Council Member - Ward 2 Ellis, 
Council Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw, Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Council Member 
- Ward 5 Cole, Council Member - Ward 6 Zahariadis, Council Member - Ward 7 Pate. 
Motion carried. 

5. Resolution 012224-C Agreement with Sain and Associates Relating to Traffic Engineering for 
1st Ave W and Navajo Trail / Thompson Rd 

Authorizing a professional services agreement with Sain and Associates Traffic 
Engineering for 1st Ave W and Navajo Trail / Thompson Rd at a cost not to exceed 
$20,000.00. 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw, Seconded by Council Member - 
Ward 7 Pate. Voting Yea: Council Member - Ward 1 Martin, Council Member - Ward 2 
Ellis, Council Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw, Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Council 
Member - Ward 5 Cole, Council Member - Ward 6 Zahariadis, Council Member - Ward 7 
Pate. Motion carried. 

Page 4

Item #A.



Book 78, Pg. -11- 

 
Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 1/22/2024 

6. Resolution 012224-D Agreement with Hoar Program Management LLC Relating to 
Construction Management for the Alabaster Recreation Center Project 

Authorizing a professional services agreement with Hoar Program Management LLC for 
Construction Management for the Alabaster Recreation Center Project at a cost not to 
exceed $182,988. 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 6 Zahariadis, Seconded by Council Member - 
Ward 5 Cole. Voting Yea: Council Member - Ward 1 Martin, Council Member - Ward 2 
Ellis, Council Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw, Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Council 
Member - Ward 5 Cole, Council Member - Ward 6 Zahariadis, Council Member - Ward 7 
Pate. Motion carried. 

7. Resolution 012224-E Medical Clinic Board Appointment 

Appointing Milly Stewart to the Medical Clinic Board with a term expiring December 1, 
2029. 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw, Seconded by Council Member - 
Ward 4 Farrell. 

Voting Yea: Council Member - Ward 1 Martin, Council Member - Ward 2 Ellis, Council 
Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw, Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Council Member - Ward 
5 Cole, Council Member - Ward 6 Zahariadis, Council Member - Ward 7 Pate. Motion 
carried. 
 

8. Resolution 012224-F BZA Appointing Board Member Supernumerary 2 

Appointing Tracy Coyne to Supernumerary Place 2 of the Board of Zoning Adjustment 
(BZA) for the City of Alabaster with a term expiring December 1, 2024. 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 5 Cole, Seconded by Council Member - Ward 7 
Pate. Voting Yea: Council Member - Ward 1 Martin, Council Member - Ward 2 Ellis, Council 
Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw, Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Council Member - Ward 
5 Cole, Council Member - Ward 6 Zahariadis, Council Member - Ward 7 Pate. Motion 
carried. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Julie Watson 
6999 Hwy 119 
Alabaster, AL 

Requested information about the Floodplain Ordinance and process of adoption. 

COUNCIL COMMENTS 

Council President Sophie Martin 
Thanked Milly Stewart and Tracy Coyne for their willingness to serve on the MCB and 
BZA. 

WORK SESSION SCHEDULED FOR FEBRUARY 8, 2024 AT 6:00 PM 

ADJOURN MEETING 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw, Seconded by Council Member - Ward 5 Cole. 
Meeting adjourned at 6:50 PM. 
 

 
________________________________  ___________________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk    Sophie Martin, Council President 

Page 5

Item #A.



 
Work Session City Council Minutes 2/8/2024 

 

MINUTES OF THE WORK SESSION CITY COUNCIL 

 Council Chambers | 1953 Municipal Way 
 Alabaster, AL 

 
February 08, 2024 

CALL TO ORDER 

City Council assembled for a Work Session and the meeting was called to order at 6:07 PM with 
Council President Sophie Martin presiding. 

ROLL CALL 
Sophie Martin, Rick Ellis, Stacy Rakestraw, Greg Farrell, Jamie Cole, Zach Zahariadis, Kerri Pate 

PRESENT 
Council Member - Ward 1 Sophie Martin 
Council Member - Ward 2 Rick Ellis 
Council Member - Ward 3 Stacy Rakestraw 
Council Member - Ward 4 Greg Farrell 
Council Member - Ward 5 Jamie Cole 
Council Member - Ward 6 Zach Zahariadis 
Council Member - Ward 7 Kerri Pate 
 

AGENDA ITEMS:  

1. Review 2024 General Liability, Workers Comp and Cyber Liability Insurance Policies 

REVIEW: Authorizing the Mayor to sign the 2024 insurance renewal agreements with 
AMIC for Liability Insurance, MWCF for Workers Comp Insurance, and RPS for Cyber 
Security Insurance with a cost not to exceed $985,421. (Resolution 021224-F Authorizing 
Agreements General Liability Workers Comp and Cyber Insurance) Item added to 
Monday's agenda. 

2. APD Donations Discussion 

Review opportunity for local retail corporations providing donations and small grants to 
local public safety departments. Item added to Monday's agenda. 

3. *Ordinance 24-194 Amending Administrative Sections of the Zoning Ordinance of the City of 
Alabaster 

A public hearing is set for Monday, February 12, 2024, at 6:30 PM, amending various 
portions of the Alabaster Zoning Ordinance. Item added to Monday's agenda. 

4. Charter Franchise Agreement - Discussion 

Review the new 2024 Charter Franchise Agreement request. (Ordinance 24-195 
Authorizing Franchise Agreement with Spectrum Southeast dba Charter 
Communications Inc) Item added to Monday's agenda. 

5. Review: Train Crossing Communication System | TrainFo (Norfolk Southern) 

Review proposal from Train Crossing Communication System | TrainFo (Norfolk 
Southern). This company provides a system which notifies Waze, Daktronics Message 
Boards, 911 Maps and ESRI ArcGIS the status of railroad crossings. (Resolution 021224-G 
Authorizing Agreement with TrainFo) Item added to Monday's agenda. 

6. Authorize and Accept 2024 Senior Center Grant Application from Shelby County 

Page 6

Item #B.



 
Work Session City Council Minutes 2/8/2024 

Authorizing the application and acceptance of the Shelby County Senior Grant to aid in 
funding programs and services for seniors in the community in the amount of $2,000. 
(Resolution 021224-D Authorize and Accept Grant Application for Senior Center) Item 
added to Monday's agenda. 

7. Assessing Weed Abatement Cost for 1226 Thompson Rd 

REVIEW: Setting a public hearing for Monday, February 26, 2024 6:30 PM to place a lien 
on property located at 1226 Thompson Rd. (**Resolution 022624 Assessing Weed 
Abatement Cost for 1226 Thompson Rd) Item added to Monday's agenda. 

8. Request to Authorize Funding for 2024 Gone Fishin Not Just Wishin Event 

Approving request to support the Exceptional Anglers event, Gone Fishin’, Not Just 
Wishin’, at Oak Mountain State Park on May 8-10, 2024 in the amount of $3,000. 
(Resolution 021224-C Authorizing Funding for 2024 Gone Fishin Not Just Wishin Event) 
Item added to Monday's agenda. 

9. Review Request for an ABC License - Lexy Express LLC DBA i65 Chevron 

Approving a request for a 050 – Retail Beer (Off Premises Only) and 070 – Retail Wine 
(Off Premises Only) Alcohol License for Lexy Express LLC dba I65 Chevron at 1100 1ST ST 
S Alabaster, AL 35007. (Resolution 021224-E Approving Issuance of ABC License - I65 
Chevron) Item added to Monday's agenda. 

10. Review Request for an ABC License - Kent Stone Development LLC / Kent Kwik 920 

Approving a request for a 050 – Retail Beer (Off Premises Only) and 070 – Retail Wine 
(Off Premises Only) Alcohol License for Kent Stone Development LLC / Kent Kwik 920 
at 1565 Simmsville Rd  Alabaster, AL 35007. (Resolution 021224-I Approving Issuance of 
ABC License - Kent Kwik 920). Item added to Monday's agenda. 

11. Agreement with ALDOT for Project No STPAA-003(655) 

Authorizing agreement with Alabama Department of Transportation for State paving 
project on US31 - Project #STPAA-003(655) and (656). (Resolution 021224-A Authorizing 
Agreement with ALDOT for Project No STPAA-003(655) and (656) Item added to 
Monday's agenda. 

12. Alabaster City School Board Member and CDA Member Appointment Discussion 

Review: Upcoming ACS Board Member appointment.  Appointments are typically done 
in April and will begin serving in June. Staff will post applications for a month and set up 
interviews of candidates in March or the first week in April. One appointment will be 
needed for the Commercial Development Authority in March. 

13. Mayoral Beautification Board Appointments 

Appointing 3 members to Place A of the Alabaster Beautification Board with a terms 
expiring December 1, 2026. (Resolution 021224 Mayoral Beautification Board 
Appointments) Item added to Monday's agenda. 

14. Declaring Items within Various Departments as Surplus 

Declaring surplus items within various departments within the City of Alabaster. 
(Resolution 021224-B Declaring Items within Various Departments as Surplus) Item 
added to Monday's agenda. 

15. Executive Session Relating to Preliminary Negotiations Involving Matters of Trade or 
Commerce 

Alabama Code Title § 36-25A-7 (7) To discuss preliminary negotiations involving matters 
of trade or commerce in which the governmental body is in competition with private 
individuals or entities or other governmental bodies in Alabama or in other states or 

Page 7

Item #B.



 
Work Session City Council Minutes 2/8/2024 

foreign nations or to discuss matters or information of the character defined or 
described in the Alabama Trade Secrets Act.  Provided, however, that prior to such 
discussions a person involved in the recruitment or retention effort or who has personal 
knowledge that the discussion will involve matter or information of the character 
defined or described in the Alabama Trade Secrets Act advises the governmental body in 
writing or by oral declaration entered into the minutes that the discussions would have 
a detrimental effect upon the competitive position of a party to the negotiations or 
upon the location, retention, expansion, or upgrading of a public employee or business 
entity in the area served by the governmental body if disclosed outside of an executive 
session, or would disclose information protected by the Alabama Trade Secrets Act. 

Council President Sophie Martin announced that the Council would not reconvene 
following the Executive Session and City Attorney Jeff Brumlow stated that the reason 
for the Executive Session was authorized.  

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 5 Cole, Seconded by Council Member - Ward 3 
Rakestraw. 
Voting Yea: Council Member - Ward 1 Martin, Council Member - Ward 2 Ellis, Council 
Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw, Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Council Member - Ward 
5 Cole, Council Member - Ward 6 Zahariadis, Council Member - Ward 7 Pate. Council 
entered the executive session at 7:54 PM. 
 

ADJOURNMENT 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Seconded by Council Member - Ward 7 Pate. 
Council exited the Executive Session and the meeting adjourned at 8:17 PM. 
 

 
________________________________  ___________________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk    Sophie Martin, Council President 

 

Page 8

Item #B.



 

 

 
RESOLUTION 021224 

 
AFFIRMING THE MAYOR’S APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS TO THE ALABASTER BEAUTIFICATION  

BOARD AND SETTING TERMS THEREOF 
 
WHEREAS: the Mayor of the City of Alabaster must periodically make appointments to the Alabaster 
Beautification Board; and, 
 
WHEREAS, Ordinance 14-010 states the Beautification Board shall consist of any number of members as from 
time to time are appointed by the Mayor; provided that the membership shall not be less than six (6) nor more 
than twelve (12) persons, divided equally between place A, place B and place C, no place having less than two 
nor more than four members; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the term of appointment runs annually from December 1 thru November 30 for a 3 year period, and 
shall continue to serve until their replacement is appointed and seated, said terms being staggered between 
Place A, B and C.   
 
WHEREAS, the current board is comprised of the following members who serve until the term expires or a 
replacement is found;  
 

Appointee   Place  Term Expiring 
Donna Morris    A  12/01/23 
Loretta Barber   A  12/01/23 
Erica Lamar-Coney   A  12/01/23 

   Leigh Isom    B  12/01/24 
   Randi Dicus    B  12/01/24 

Amanda Pierce   C  12/01/25 
   Marie Jordan    C  12/01/25 
     
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Scott Brakefield, Mayor of the City of Alabaster do hereby appoint the following 
members and terms. 
  
Section 1. The following person(s) are hereby APPOINTED to the Alabaster Beautification Board and term 
corresponding thereto: 
 

Appointee   Place  Term Expiring 
Donna Morris    A  12/01/26 
Loretta Barber   A  12/01/26 
Janice Lacey    A  12/01/26 

   Leigh Isom    B  12/01/24 
   Randi Dicus    B  12/01/24 

Amanda Pierce   C  12/01/25 
   Marie Jordan    C  12/01/25 
     
Section 2.  This Appointment shall be effective as of the date of this pronouncement. 
 
AFFIRMING MAYORS’ APPOINTMENT THIS 12TH DAY OF FEBRUARY 2024. 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED: 
 
 
____________________________   _______________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk    Scott Brakefield, Mayor 
 

Page 9

Item #C.



Page 10

Item #D.



Having previously been introduced at the January 8, 2024 council meeting, Council Member 
_________________ moved the adoption of the following Ordinance, which was seconded by 
Council Member _____________________: 

 
ORDINANCE 24-194 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND ADMINISTRATIVE SECTIONS OF THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY 
OF ALABASTER RELATING TO NOTICE AND AMENDMENTS. 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council is desirous to make certain changes to the administrative provisions of the 
Zoning Ordinance of the City of Alabaster, 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ALABASTER AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1.  Section 111-84(k) – Amendments, is hereby repealed and replaced as follows: 

Sec. 111-84(k). Amendments. 

(k) Amendments. 
(1) The following changes to the development criteria or approved development plan shall 

require approval by the planning commission: 
a. Any change to the conceptual street plan which would: 

1. Any reduction of or increase to the number of streets. 
2. Change the intent or function of the pedestrian circulation system or commonly 
owned open space network. 
3. A reduction or increase of any use greater than 5% of the established plan. 
4. Any change in PDD district boundaries greater than 50 feet from the established 
plan. 

b. Any change in the development criteria approved as part of the Planned Development 
District. 
 
(2) The following minor changes to the development plan may be approved by the zoning 
coordinator or zoning official: 

1. Relocation of a planned street due to topography or infrastructure requirements. 
2. Relocation of a building or part of a planned district area by not greater than 50 feet 
from its planned location. 

 
(3) Any variance to zoning ordinance provisions which apply to a Planned Development District 
and are not part of this section must be approved by the board of zoning adjustment. 

 
Section 2. Section 111-87(k) and (l) are hereby repealed and replaced as follows: 
 

(k) Approved development plan amendment. An approved development plan may be amended 
by the planning commission, provided the procedure specified in subsection (i)(3) of this 
section for MXD Mixed Use District zoning is followed. 

 
(l) Minor changes procedures. Minor changes in the location, siting, elevation or character of 
buildings and structures shown on the final development plan may be authorized by the zoning 
coordinator. No change authorized by the zoning coordinator under this section may increase 
the size of any building or structure by more than ten percent, nor change the location of any 
building or structure by more than ten feet in any direction; provided that, notwithstanding 
anything in the foregoing, the building official may not permit changes beyond the minimum 
or maximum requirements set forth in the MXD Mixed Use District zoning approval. 

 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 12TH DAY OF FEBRUARY 2024. 
 
ATTEST:     CITY OF ALABASTER, ALABAMA 
 
______________________________  ________________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk   Sophie Martin, Council President 
 
APPROVED: 
 
_______________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor 

Page 11

Item #1.



Having previously been introduced at the February 12, 2024, council meeting, Council Member 
_________________ moved the adoption of the following Ordinance, which was seconded by Council 
Member _____________________: 
 

 

 
 

ORDINANCE 24-195 
 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A NON-EXCLUSIVE RIGHT-OF-WAY USE 
AGREEMENT TO SPECTRUM SOUTHEAST, LLC d/b/a CHARTER 

COMMUNICATIONS, INC, FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROVIDING SERVICES, 
FACILITIES AND EQUIPMENT NECESSARY TO MEET THE CURRENT AND 

FUTURE CABLE-RELATED NEEDS OF THE COMMUNITY WITHIN THE PUBLIC 
RIGHTS-OF-WAY WITHIN THE CITY OF ALABASTER, ALABAMA 

 
 WHEREAS, Spectrum Southeast, LLC d/b/a Charter Communications, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as 

the “the Company”) desires to continue to provide services, facilities and equipment necessary to meet the 

current and future needs of the community, and on public rights-of-way within the City of Alabaster, 

Alabama; and 

 WHEREAS, the Company agrees and recognizes that it is required to obtain consent in the form of a 

right-of-way use agreement from the City of Alabaster in order to construct and maintain the transmission 

lines within the corporate limits of the City of Alabaster; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council wishes to accommodate the Company’s request and grant a right-of-way 

use agreement for the provision of cable services to the community in accordance with the terms and 

conditions contained herein. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ALABASTER AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 The City Council of the City of Alabaster does hereby grant Spectrum Southeast, LLC dba Charter 

Communications, Inc., at execution of this Ordinance by the Company, a non-exclusive right-of-way use 

agreement granting the limited authority to construct and maintain cable transmission lines in the City of 

Alabaster in and along the rights-of-way of the City, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the 

following agreement: 

AGREEMENT 
 

THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) dated February 26, 2024 is made by and between Spectrum 

Southeast, LLC d/b/a Charter Communications, Inc. (“Charter”), a Delaware corporation and Alabaster, 

Alabama, (“City”) and applies to subscribers within the City.   

 

Page 12

Item #2.



 
Ordinance 24-195  

 
 

 
RECITALS 

 
WHEREAS, the City recognizes that Charter has substantially complied with the material terms of the 

current Franchise under applicable laws, and that the financial, legal and technical ability of Charter is 

sufficient to provide services, facilities and equipment necessary to meet the future cable-related needs of 

the community, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City and Charter have complied with all federal and State-mandated procedural and 

substantive requirements pertinent to this franchise renewal; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Parties believe that the system and services that Charter will use in the City to provide 

Cable Services as defined in 47 U.S.C. 522 (6) are subject to Title VI of the Communications Act of 1934, as 

amended (“Title VI”); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Parties acknowledge and agree that by entering into this Agreement the City reserves 

all rights it may have to regulate Charter’s use of the right-of-way to the maximum extent permissible under 

the law and the City does not, in any way, waive or surrender any of its regulatory rights in the right-of-way by 

virtue of executing this Agreement. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of and reliance upon the respective representations, promises, 

concessions, terms and conditions contained herein, the City and Charter agree as follows. 
 

1.   Terms. Words used in this Agreement which are not defined shall have the meaning ascribed to them 
in the Cable Communications Act of 1984, as amended by the Cable Communications Policy Act of 
1992, the Telecommunications Act of 1996 and as amended from time to time. When not 
inconsistent with the context, words used in the present tense include the future, words in the plural 
number include the singular number, and words in the singular number include the plural number. 
The word "shall" is mandatory and "may" is permissive. Words not defined shall be given their 
common and ordinary meaning.  As used herein, the term “Video Cable” shall mean “Cable Service” 
as defined in the foregoing acts. 

   
2.  Requirements.  The City hereby grants to Charter a nonexclusive Franchise which authorizes Charter 

to erect, construct, operate and maintain in, upon, along, across, above, over and under the Streets, 
now in existence and as may be created or established during its terms; any poles, wires, cable, 
underground conduits, manholes, and other conductors and fixtures necessary for the maintenance 
and operation of a Cable System. Nothing in this Franchise shall be construed to prohibit the Grantee 
from offering any service over its Cable System that is not prohibited by federal, State or local law.  

 
a. Police Powers and Conflicts with Franchise.  Charter agrees to comply with the terms of any 
lawfully adopted generally applicable local ordinance, to the extent that the provisions of the 
ordinance do not have the effect of limiting the benefits or expanding the obligations of Charter that 
are granted by this Franchise.  This Franchise is a contract and except as to those changes which are 
the result of the City’s lawful exercise of its general police power, the City may not take any unilateral 
action which materially changes the explicit mutual promises in this contract.  Any changes to this 
Franchise must be made in writing signed by Charter and the City.  In the event of any conflict between 
this Franchise and any City ordinance or regulation, this Franchise will prevail.   

 

Page 13

Item #2.



 
Ordinance 24-195  

 
b.  The City shall maintain its police powers in a nondiscriminatory manner over installation of 
facilities in the public rights of way. 
 
c. Charter agrees that it must locate its Cable Service equipment in the right-of-way so as not to 
cause unreasonable interference with the rights of the traveling public on public rights of way, not to 
unreasonably limit the visibility of vehicular and/or pedestrian traffic, and not to cause unreasonable 
interference with the rights, if any, of property owners who adjoin any of the said streets, alleys or 
other public ways. 
 
d. Charter shall comply with the lawful application of all generally applicable provisions of the 
Code of Ordinances of the City, state and federal law with respect to the location of Charter’s Cable 
Service equipment and facilities in the right-of-way.  If the location selected by Charter for a specific 
Cable Service cabinet raises a reasonable public health, safety, and welfare concern, the City and 
Charter agree to work together to identify alternative locations, if available, to satisfy any technical 
specifications or limitations of the facilities or equipment to be placed in the right-of-way and that are 
acceptable to the City. 
 
e. Charter shall comply with the same terms and conditions as are applicable under its existing 
authorizations for Charter’s facilities and equipment in the right-of-way with respect to all work 
involved in the construction, maintenance, repair and upgrade of the Cable System.  Nothing in this 
Agreement shall in any way reduce or expand the City’s authority over the right-of-way to the 
maximum extent permitted by law. 
 
f. The City agrees to subject the construction and installation of the Video Cable System to the 
same process and review as it subjects the installation and construction of Charter’s existing 
communications infrastructure consistent with applicable provisions of the City ordinances, rules and 
regulations, state and federal law. 
 
g. In accordance with the City Ordinances, rules and regulations, the City agrees to process any 
and all applicable permits for the installation and construction of Cable System facilities in a timely and 
prompt manner consistent with reasonable City practices.  City agrees not to unreasonably block, 
restrict, or limit the construction and installation of the Cable System. 
 
h. With respect to the Cable System of Charter located in the right-of-way and utilized to provide 
Cable Service: 
 
 i. All construction practices for Cable System facilities shall be in accordance with all 
applicable sections of the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, as amended. 
 
 ii. All installation of electronic Cable System equipment shall be installed in accordance 
with the provisions of the National Electrical Safety Code. 
  
 iii. Antennas and their supporting structures (towers) used exclusively for the provision 
of Cable Service shall be painted, lighted, erected and maintained in accordance with all applicable 
rules and regulations of the Federal Aviation Administration and all other applicable state and City 
directives, codes and regulations. 
 
 iv. All of Charter’s Cable System equipment and facilities shall be installed, located, 
erected, constructed, reconstructed, replaced, relocated, or removed in accordance and in compliance 
with all generally applicable City Resolutions, rules and regulations, including the Uniform Regulations 
Pursuant to Authorization of Ala. Code §11-88-14 Concerning Location of Utilities on City Rights-Of-
Way.  All such work must be performed so as not to unreasonably interfere with road improvements 
the City may deem appropriate to make, or unlawfully hinder or obstruct the rights of the traveling 
public. All cables and other Cable System equipment shall be properly installed and shall not be left 
unburied, unstrung, or otherwise in an incomplete state so as to interfere with the health, safety and 
welfare of the City or the public. In the event of a required pole relocation, Charter shall make any and 
all necessary adjustments within sixty (60) days of being notified by its pole provider of the completion 
of said pole relocations.  Nothing in this Section shall be construed to limit Charter’s rights to access 
and make use of its own or general utility easements in accordance with the terms of such easements 
so long as such use is consistent with applicable law. 
 

Page 14

Item #2.



 
Ordinance 24-195  

 
 v. Charter shall at all times employ ordinary care and shall use commonly accepted 
methods and devices. 
  
 vi. Charter shall comply with the provisions of the City Resolutions, rules and regulations 
regarding tree trimming on public rights of way. 
 

3. Compensation to City.   
 

3.1  During the term of this Agreement, Charter shall pay to the City a franchise fee equal to 5% of 
the Gross Revenue, as defined herein, which fee shall be paid quarterly and transmitted by electronic 
funds transfer to a bank account designated by City.    Such fees shall be paid to the City within 45 days 
after the end of the preceding calendar quarter for which payment is made.  Charter may designate 
that portion of the subscriber’s bill attributable to fees imposed pursuant to this Agreement and 
recover such amount from the subscriber as a separate line item of the bill.   

 
3.2 Payment shall be accompanied by a written statement setting forth the Gross Revenue for the 
quarter for which the payment is submitted. In the event that a Franchise Fee or other sum due is not 
received by the City on or before the date due, Charter shall pay in addition to the payment, or sum 
due, interest from the due date at a rate equal to the prime rate plus one percent (1%) as of the date 
upon which the payment was due. 

 
3.3 Gross revenues shall mean all revenues, calculated in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP), derived from the operation of the cable system for the provision of cable 
services within the City.  This gross revenue definition will exclude non-subscriber based revenue 
sources, such as advertising and home shopping network fees.    Gross revenues shall include the 
following:   
a. Recurring charges for cable or video service. 
 
b. Event-based charges for video service, including, but not limited to, pay-per-view and video-
on-demand charges. 
 
c. Rental of cable boxes and other services or video service equipment required to receive cable 

or video Service.   
 
d. Service charges related to the provision of cable service or video service including but not 
limited to activation, installation and repair charges. 
 
e. Administrative charges related to the provision of cable service or video service, including but 
not limited to service order and service termination charges. 
 
f. Late payment fees or charges. 
 
g. In the case of video service or cable Service that is bundled or integrated functionally with 
other services, capabilities or applications, the portion of the video provider’s revenue attributable to 
the other services, capabilities or applications shall be included in the gross revenue unless the cable 
provider can reasonably identify the division or exclusion of the revenue from its books and records 
that are kept in the regular course of business.   

 
 3.4 For purposes of this Agreement, Gross Revenues do not include: 
   
  a. uncollectible fees, provided that all or part of uncollectible fees which is written off as 

bad debt but subsequently collected fees, less expenses of collection, shall be included in Gross 
Revenues in the period collected; 

 
  b. discounts, refunds, and other price adjustments that reduce the amount of 

compensation received by Charter; 
 
  c. Any tax, fee, or assessment of general applicability imposed on the consumer or the 

transaction by a Federal, State, or local government or any other governmental entity, collected by the 
Provider, and required to be remitted to the taxing entity, including sales and use taxes, and utility 
user taxes; 

Page 15

Item #2.



 
Ordinance 24-195  

 
 
  d. revenue from the sale or rental of capital assets to non-subscribers; or 
 
  e. any revenues received by Charter for the provision of information services, or the 

provision of directory or Internet advertising (including yellow pages, white pages, banner 
advertisement, and electronic publishing). 

 
4. Public, Educational and Governmental Programming 
 

4.1 Upon written notice by the City to Charter to provide capacity for the City’s public, educational 
and governmental (“PEG”) programming through Charter’s Cable System, the City and Charter will 
meet to discuss construction, equipment and costs associated with launching a PEG channel for the 
City, provided, however, that all costs associated with the operation of the PEG channel and the 
transmission of PEG programming from the City’s origination point to Charter’s headend or hubsite 
shall be the responsibility of the City.  Following discussions between the City and Charter, if technically 
feasible, within one hundred twenty days (120) days Charter will provide one (1) downstream PEG 
access channel on the Cable System for use by the City for non-commercial, video programming for 
PEG access programming.  The PEG channel may be placed on any tier of service available to 
subscribers in compliance with applicable law.   

 

Upon the City demonstrating that the first channel is substantially utilized as defined below, and that 
upon activation of a second channel it will also be substantially utilized. The City may request, and 
Charter shall provide, a second PEG Channel upon 180 days advance written notice by the City.  
“Substantially Utilized” shall be defined as 15 continuous hours each calendar day with at least 
seventy-five percent (75%) of this block must be original, non-duplicated content.  The second channel 
must also be substantially utilized in order for the City to have access to this second PEG channel.  The 
City may be required to support a change in or addition to current City equipment now in use for PEG 
programming to make it compatible with Charter’s cable technology. 

 
Any operation of any PEG access channel by City shall be the responsibility of the City, and Charter’s 
only obligation, if any, is the responsibility for the downstream transmission of such channel from its 
headend or hubsite to subscribers.  The City will be responsible to ensure that all transmissions, 
retransmissions, content, or programming that may be requested to be transmitted over a channel or 
facility by Charter in the future, if any, are provided or submitted to Charter, at the Charter designated 
connection point, in a manner or form that is capable of being accepted and transmitted by Charter, 
without requirement for additional alteration or change in the format or content by Charter, over the 
network of Charter, and which is compatible with the technology or protocol utilized by Charter to 
deliver Cable Service.   

 
4.2 If the City elects to activate a PEG Channel in accordance with Section 4.1 above, Charter shall 
pay the City a PEG fee determined by the City as reasonable to meet the needs and interests of the 
cable-related community, taking into account the costs of meeting those needs and interests, and 
following a public hearing, which fee shall not exceed one percent of Charter’s Gross Revenues as 
defined by paragraph (3.3) of this Agreement for PEG.  The City shall provide Charter written notice 
forty-five (45) days in advance of the date on which it seeks to start collecting the fee setting forth the 
percentage it seeks to collect.  All fees paid to the City under this section shall be paid in accordance 
with 47 U.S.C. Section 531 (a) (4) (B) and may be used by the City as allowed by 47 USC 542 (g); further, 
the PEG fee shall not be offset, deducted or chargeable as a credit against franchise fee payments 
required by Section 3 of this Agreement provided that this PEG fee is being used in accordance with 
federal law.  Payments made for PEG support shall be collected and paid in the same manner as 
outlined in Section 3 of this Agreement.  The provider may designate that portion of the subscriber’s 
bill attributable to fees imposed pursuant to this Agreement and recover such amount from the 
subscriber as a separate line item of the bill. 

 
5. Emergency Message If Charter provides access to an Emergency Alert System (“EAS”) to the City, then 

the City shall permit only appropriately trained and authorized persons to operate the EAS equipment 
and shall take reasonable precautions to prevent any use of Charter’s Cable System in any manner that 
results in inappropriate use thereof, or any loss or damage to the Cable System.  The City shall hold 

Page 16

Item #2.



 
Ordinance 24-195  

 
Charter, its employees, officers and assigns harmless from any claims or costs arising out of use of the 
EAS, including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. 

  
6. Customer Service Standards.  The City acknowledges that presently there are two or more wireline 

providers offering service within the City.  In the event Charter is the only wireline provider offering 
service within the City, the City will require that Charter comply with the customer service 
requirements set forth in 47 C.F.R. Section 76.309 (c)as a condition of this Franchise.  If Charter 
customers contact City with a complaint or request for assistance of any kind pertaining to Cable 
Service, including but not limited to billing, installation, repair or service inadequacies, City will contact 
Charter’s customer service representative to address the customer complaint or request.  Charter will 
address and resolve or attempt to resolve the complaint or request as soon as possible and 
communicate the planned actions to the City within 24 hours of Charter’s notice of the complaint if 
reasonably possible.  The City may contact the FCC at any time regarding concerns about Charter’s 
customer performance. 

 
7. Removal.  Upon abandonment, Charter will, at the City’s written request and within a reasonable 

amount of time, remove from the City rights-of-way any visible equipment that Charter used 
exclusively for video services and restore the property at Charter’s cost.  In the event that Charter fails 
to timely remove any such equipment, the City shall have the right to remove said equipment and 
restore the property at Charter’s expense.   

 
 
8. Insurance.   
 

8.1 Charter shall maintain throughout the term of the Agreement insurance in amounts at least as 
follows:  

 
Workers' Compensation  Statutory Limits 
 
Commercial General Liability  $1,000,000 per occurrence, 
 Combined Single Liability (C.S.L.) 
 $2,000,000 General Aggregate 
 
Auto Liability including coverage $1,000,000 per occurrence C.S.L. 
on all owned, non-owned  
hired autos  
 
Umbrella Liability   $1,000,000 per occurrence C.S.L. 
 

 b. The City shall be added as an additional insured, arising out of work    
 performed by Charter, to the above Commercial General Liability, Auto    
 Liability and Umbrella Liability insurance coverage.  
 

c. Charter shall furnish the City with current certificates of insurance evidencing such coverage 
within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date, and thereafter upon request and naming the City 
as an additional insured on all such policies. 

 
8.2 Self-Insurance.  Charter maintains the option, at the Effective Date of this Agreement and at 
any time throughout the term of this Agreement, to self-insure any or all of the types and/or limits of 
insurance coverage described in this Section 8 and shall provide the City with a statement certifying 
such self-insurance, which self-insurance must be approved by the City.  Consent by the City shall not 
be unreasonably withheld. 

8.3 Maintenance of Insurance Policies.  The liability insurance policies required under this 
Section shall be maintained by Charter through the term of this Agreement.  A thirty (30) day notice 
of cancellation will be provided to the contact name and email address provided by the City.  It is the 
responsibility of the City to provide Charter with up-to-date contact name and email address.  A 
notice of cancellation for nonpayment of premium is not provided.     

 
8.4 Alteration of Minimum Limits.  The City may, following the Effective Date, request in writing, 
increasing the minimum limitation(s) of the self-insurance or insurance policy(ies) required under this 

Page 17

Item #2.



 
Ordinance 24-195  

 
Section by a percentage not to exceed the percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index for the 
Birmingham Metropolitan Statistical Areas as of the Effective Date. 
 
8.5 No Limit of Liability.  The legal liability of Charter to the City and any person for any of the 
matters that are the subject of the insurance policy(ies) required by this Section shall not be limited by 
said insurance policy(ies) or by the recovery of any amounts thereunder. 

 
9. Breach of Agreement.  Should either party claim that a breach of any part of this Agreement has 

occurred, that party will provide prompt written notice to the other, specifying the nature of the 
breach; and upon receipt the other party shall cure such breach within 60 days.   

 
10. Dispute Resolution.  Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Parties shall, prior to any 

court action, make diligent good faith efforts to resolve all issues and disputes that arise in the 
administration of this Agreement through discussions between designated representatives of the 
Parties and the parties may use a mediator when such discussions have failed. 

 
11. Non-discrimination.   Charter shall not deny service, deny access, or otherwise discriminate against 

subscribers, channel users, or general citizens on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, age 
or sex.   

 
12. Indemnification.  Charter shall, by acceptance of the Franchise granted herein, defend the City, its 

officers, boards, commissions, agents, and employees for all claims for injury to any Person or property 
caused by the negligence of Charter in the construction or operation of the Cable System and in the 
event of a determination of liability shall indemnify and hold City, its officers, boards, commissions, 
agents, and employees harmless from any and all liabilities, claims, demands, or judgments growing 
out of any injury to any Person or property as a result of the negligence of Charter arising out of the 
construction, repair, extension, maintenance, operation or removal of its wires, poles or other 
equipment of any kind or character used in connection with the operation of the Cable System, 
provided that the City shall give Charter written notice of its obligation to indemnify the City within 
fifteen (15) days of receipt of a claim or action pursuant to this section.  In the event any such claim 
arises, the City shall tender the defense thereof to Charter and Charter shall have the right to defend, 
settle or compromise any claims arising hereunder and the City shall cooperate fully herein.  If the City 
determined in good faith that its interests cannot be represented by Charter, Charter shall be excused 
from any obligation to represent the City.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Charter shall not be 
obligated to indemnify the City for any damages, liability or claims resulting from the willful misconduct 
or negligence of the City or for the City’s use of the Cable System. 

  
12.1  Charter shall be responsible for its own acts of negligence or willful misconduct, or breaches 
of obligation committed by Charter for which Charter is legally responsible, subject to any and all 
defenses and limitations of liability provided at law.  The City shall not be required to indemnify Charter 
for the above acts of Charter, its officers, employees, agents, attorneys, consultants, independent 
contractors or third parties. 

 
12.2  The City shall be responsible for its own acts of negligence or willful misconduct, or breaches 
of obligation committed by the City for which the City is legally responsible, subject to any and all 
defenses and limitations of liability provided at law.  Charter shall not be required to indemnify the 
City for the above acts of the City, its officers, employees, agents, attorneys, consultants, independent 
contractors or third parties. 

 
13.   Notices.  Any notice to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and may be delivered either 

personally, by facsimile, by nationally or internationally recognized courier service such as Federal 
Express or electronic mail communication to the designated electronic mail address provided below 
or by U.S. certified or registered mail with postage prepaid and return receipt requested, addressed as 
follows: 

 
If to City: 

 
 City of Alabaster  

1953 Municipal Way 
Alabaster, AL 35007Alabaster  
City Clerk Email: mfrey@cityofalabaster.com  

Page 18

Item #2.

mailto:mfrey@cityofalabaster.com


 
Ordinance 24-195  

 
Alabaster City Attorney Email:  jbrumlow@brumlowlegal.com  

 
If to Charter: 

 
 Charter Communications 

Attn: Legal Department 
601 Massachusetts Avenue NW 
Suite 400 West 
Washington, DC 20001 
 
With copies to:  

 
 Charter Communications 
 Attn.: Director, Government Relations 
 151 London Parkway 
 Birmingham, AL 35211 
 Email: taylor.vice@charter.com 
 
14. Compliance with Local and other Laws.   Charter shall comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, and 

codes of the U. S. Government and the State of Alabama, and any relevant generally applicable, laws, 
codes and ordinances of the City. Furthermore, by signing this contract, the contracting parties affirm, 
for the duration of the agreement, that they will not knowingly employ, hire for employment or 
continue to employ an unauthorized alien within the state of Alabama. Furthermore, a contracting 
party found to be in violation of this provision shall be deemed in breach of the agreement and shall 
be responsible for all damages resulting therefrom. 

 
15. Privacy.  The Grantee shall fully comply with the privacy rights of Subscribers as contained in Cable Act 

Section 631 (47 U.S.C. § 551). Charter will comply with all applicable state and local privacy laws during 
the term of this Agreement, to the extent such laws apply to Charter and to its obligations under this 
Agreement. 

 
16. Taxes.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to exempt Charter’s Cable Service from 

any tax, levy or assessment which is or may later be properly authorized by law; provided any tax, levy 
or assessment on any Charter product is equally applicable to all other businesses in the City. 

 
17. Employment.  Charter hereby agrees that it shall not refuse to hire or employ, nor will it bar or 

discharge from employment, nor discriminate against any person in compensation or in terms, 
conditions or privileges of employment, because of age, race, creed, color, national origin, handicap, 
religious faith or sex. 

 
18. Books and Records City’s Right of Inspection and Audit 
 

18.1 Charter shall maintain books of account and records adequate to enable Charter to 
demonstrate that it is in compliance with the obligation to pay the fees described in Section 3.1 of this 
Agreement with respect to the Cable Service.  Charter shall also maintain books and records to 
demonstrate Charter’s compliance with all other terms of this Agreement.  Charter shall not be 
required to maintain books and records for compliance purposes under this Agreement for a period 
longer than three (3) years. 

 
18.2 The City shall have the right to audit Charter within three (3) years from which the fee payment 
was due.  The City may recompute any amounts determined to be payable in satisfaction of the fees 
described in Section 3 of this Agreement with respect to Cable Service.  Any additional and valid 
amount due the City as a result of the audit shall be paid by Charter within thirty (30) days after Charter 
receives a written notice from the City.  The notice that the City sends to Charter shall include a 
complete copy of the audit report.  The City may not retain any person or entity for compensation that 
is dependent in any manner upon the outcome of any such audit, including the audit findings, the 
recovery of fees, or the recovery of any other payments. 

 
18.3 In the event that payment of any valid fees as described in Section 3.1 of this Agreement with 
respect to Cable Service that has been recomputed pursuant to Section 18.2 above is not made on or 
before the expiration of thirty (30) days following written notice by the City, Charter shall be charged 

Page 19

Item #2.

mailto:jbrumlow@brumlowlegal.com
mailto:terri.weldon@charter.com


 
Ordinance 24-195  

 
and shall pay on amounts actually owed, but not disputed amounts, in addition to the amount due, 
interest on the amount due equal to the prevailing prime rate plus two hundred (200) basis points of 
interest compounded daily from the due date for payment of the recomputed amount until paid in 
full.  The prevailing prime rate shall be the prime rate as published by the Regions Bank of Birmingham.   

 
18.4 Upon reasonable notice to Charter, the City or its designated representative shall have the 
right to examine books and records, at Charter offices or in a mutually agreeable location, directly 
related to Charter’s compliance with its obligations under this Agreement, including the fees described 
in Section 3 of this Agreement.  The City shall have no right to examine any aspect of the books and 
records that does not directly relate to Charter’s obligations under this Agreement.  

 
18.5 City acknowledges that some of the records which may be provided by Charter may be 
classified as confidential and therefore may subject Charter to competitive disadvantage if made 
public.  City shall therefore maintain the confidentiality of any and all records provided to it by Charter 
which are not required to be made public pursuant to applicable laws. Charter shall not be required to 
provide Subscriber information in violation of Section 631 of the Cable Act.   

 
19. Furnishing of Information.  Each party shall cooperate to make available or cause to be made available 

information requested by the other Party relating to this Agreement and each Party’s obligations under 
this Agreement to the extent such information may be requested in writing by a Party and is in the 
possession or the control of the other Party.  Any disputes between the Parties as to any information 
requested pursuant to this Section shall be subject to the dispute resolution process described in 
Section 11 of this Agreement. 

 
20. Termination and Revocation of this Agreement.   
 

20.1 Prior to revocation or termination of the Franchise, the City shall give written notice to Charter 
of its intent to revoke the Franchise on the basis of a pattern of noncompliance by Charter, including 
one or more instances of substantial noncompliance with a material provision of the Franchise.  The 
notice shall set forth the exact nature of the noncompliance.  Charter shall have sixty (60) days from 
such notice to either object in writing and to state its reasons for such objection and provide any 
explanation or to cure the alleged noncompliance.  If the City has not received a satisfactory response 
from Charter, it may then seek to revoke the Franchise at a public hearing.  Charter shall be given at 
least thirty (30) days prior written notice of such public hearing, specifying the time and place of such 
hearing and stating its intent to revoke the Franchise. 

 
20.2 At the hearing, the City shall give Charter an opportunity to state its position on the matter, 
present evidence and question witnesses, after which it shall determine whether or not the Franchise 
shall be revoked.  The public hearing shall be on the record and a written transcript shall be made 
available to Charter within ten (10) business days.  The decision of the City shall be made in writing 
and shall be delivered to Charter.  Charter may appeal such determination to an appropriate court, 
which shall have the power to review the decision of the City de novo.  Charter may continue to operate 
the Cable System until all legal appeals procedures have been exhausted. 
 
20.3 Notwithstanding the above provisions, Charter does not waive any of its rights under federal 
law or regulation.  

 
20.4 Upon revocation of the Franchise, Charter may sell the Cable System, remove the Cable System 
from the Streets of the City, or abandon the Cable System in place. 

 
21. Inspection Rights 
 

21.1 The City shall have the right to inspect, upon reasonable prior written notice, and at its 
expense, all construction and installation work performed by Charter of Cable Service specific facilities 
on the public rights-of-way as it shall find necessary to ensure compliance with a specified permit.  Any 
such inspection shall be solely for the benefit of the City. 

 
22. Amendment of this Agreement. Either Charter or the City shall have the right to terminate this 

Agreement and all obligations hereunder upon ninety (90) days’ notice to the other Party, if (a) Charter 
concludes in its reasonable business judgment that Cable Service in the City is no longer technically, 

Page 20

Item #2.



 
Ordinance 24-195  

 
economically or financially consistent with Charter’s business objectives; or (b) a change in state or 
federal law permits the City to obtain greater compensation from Charter than the compensation 
provided for under the terms of this Agreement. 

 
23. Assignment 
 

23.1 Subject to applicable law, Charter may not assign or transfer this Agreement or any interest 
therein, without the prior written consent of the City, which consent shall not be unreasonably 
withheld or delayed. 

 
23.2 A change in the actual working control of Charter shall be considered a transfer and shall not 
take place without the prior written consent of the City.  Such consent shall not be unreasonably 
withheld or delayed. 

 
23.3 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, no consent shall be required, however, for (1) a 
transfer of an agreement or any interest therein to another party owned by or under common control 
with Charter, or (2) a transfer in trust, by mortgage, hypothecation, or by assignment of any rights, title 
or interest of Charter in this Agreement or the system in order to secure indebtedness. 

 
23.4 Any request for consent to a transfer of this Agreement or change in control of Charter shall 
be handled by the City in accordance with applicable federal and state law. 

 
23.5 In the event of a transfer of this Agreement the transferee or assignee must agree, in writing, 
to be bound by the terms of this Agreement subject to applicable law. 

 
24. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the City and Charter 

with respect to the subject matter contained herein and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous 
discussions, agreements, and/or representations of or between City and Charter regarding the subject 
matter hereof. 

 
25. Waiver.  Failure on the part of either Party to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall not be 

construed as a waiver of the right to compel enforcement of such provision or any other provision. 
 
26. Miscellaneous. 
 

26.1 Charter and City each hereby warrants that it has the requisite power and authority to enter 
into this Agreement and to perform according to the terms hereof. 

 
26.2 The headings used in this Agreement are inserted for convenience or reference only and are 
not intended to define, limit or affect the interpretation of any term or provision hereof.  The singular 
shall include the plural; the masculine gender shall include the feminine and neutral gender. 

 
26.3 Charter and City shall cooperate fully with one another in the execution of any and all other 
documents and in the completion of any additional actions including, without limitation, the 
processing of permits that may be necessary or appropriate to give full force and effect to the terms 
and intent of this Agreement. 

 
26.4 Nothing contained in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed as creating or conferring 
any rights, benefits, or remedies upon, or creating any obligations of the Parties hereto toward any 
person or entity not a party to this Agreement, unless otherwise expressly set forth herein. 

 
26.5 If any particular section of this Agreement shall be held invalid, the remaining provisions and 
their application shall not be affected thereby. 

 
27. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and for the benefit of each of the Parties and 

their respective successors and assigns and any parents, subsidiaries or affiliated corporations or 
entities, as applicable. 

 
28. Counterpart Execution.  This Agreement may be signed in one or more counterparts, each of which 

shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement.  

Page 21

Item #2.



 
Ordinance 24-195  

 
Signature pages may be transmitted by facsimile and any signature transmitted by facsimile will be 
given the same force and effect as an original signature. 

 
29. Compliance with this Agreement.  Charter shall not be excused from complying with any of the terms, 

conditions, and provisions of this Agreement by any failure of the City upon one or more occasions to 
insist upon or to seek compliance with any such terms, conditions, or provisions. 

 
30. Force Majeure.  In the event performance of this Agreement, or any obligation hereunder, is either 

directly or indirectly prevented, restricted, or interfered with by a force majeure event, the Party 
affected, upon giving prompt notice to the other Party, shall be excused from such performance on a 
day-to-day basis to the extent of such prevention, restriction, or interference. This provision includes 
work delays caused by waiting for utility providers to service or monitor their utility poles to which 
Charter’s Cable System is attached, as well as unavailability of materials and/or qualified labor to 
perform the work necessary. 

 
31. Severability. If any particular section of this Agreement shall be held invalid, the remaining 

provisions and their application shall not be affected thereby. 

32.  Annexation. The Grantor shall promptly provide written notice to the Grantee of its annexation of 
any territory which is being provided Cable Service by the Grantee or its affiliates.  Such annexed area 
will be subject to the provisions of this Franchise upon sixty (60) days’ written notice from the Grantor, 
subject to the conditions set forth below.  The Grantor shall also notify Grantee in writing of all new 
street address assignments or changes within the Franchise Area.  Grantee shall within ninety (90) days 
after receipt of the annexation notice, pay the Grantor franchise fees on revenue received from the 
operation of the Cable System to provide Cable Services in any area annexed by the Grantor if the 
Grantor has provided a written annexation notice that includes the addresses that will be moved into 
the Franchise Area in an Excel format or in a format that will allow Grantee to change its billing system.  
If the annexation notice does not include the addresses that will be moved into the Franchise Area, 
Grantee shall pay franchise fees within ninety (90) days after it receives the annexed addresses as set 
forth above.  All notices due under this section shall be sent by electronic or certified mail, return 
receipt requested to the addresses set forth in Section 13 with a copy to the Director of Government 
Affairs.  In any audit of franchise fees due under this Agreement, Grantee shall not be liable for 
franchise fees on annexed areas unless and until Grantee has received notification and information 
that meets the standards set forth in this section. 

 
33. Choice of Law.  This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted according to the Federal law and 

the laws of the State of Alabama. 
 
34. Term. The Agreement shall be for a term of five (5) years, commencing on the Effective Date of 

this Agreement as set forth in Section 35. This Agreement will be automatically extended for an 
additional term of five (5) years from such effective date, unless either party notifies the other in 
writing of its desire to not exercise this automatic extension (and enter renewal negotiations 
under the Cable Act) at least one hundred eighty days (180) before the expiration of this 
Franchise. If such a notice is given, the parties will then proceed under the federal Cable Act 
renewal procedures. 

 
35. Effective Date. The Agreement will take effect and be in full force from such date of acceptance 

by Charter recorded on the signature page of this Agreement. This Agreement shall expire on 
February 25, 2029 unless extended in accordance with Section 34 of this Franchise or by the 
mutual agreement of the parties. 

 
36. Other Agreements.  If any other provider of Cable Services or video services (without regard to the 

technology used to deliver such services) is lawfully authorized by the City or by any other state or 
federal governmental entity to provide such services using facilities located wholly or partly in the 
public rights-of-way of the City, the City shall, within thirty (30) days of a written request from Charter, 
modify this Agreement to insure that the obligations applicable to Charter are no more burdensome 
than those imposed on the new competing provider.  If the City fails to make modifications consistent 
with this requirement, City’s Agreement shall be deemed so modified thirty (30) days after Charter’s 
initial written notice.  As an alternative to the Agreement modification request, Charter shall have the 
right and may choose to have this Agreement with the City deemed expired thirty (30) days after 

Page 22

Item #2.



 
Ordinance 24-195  

 
written notice to the City. Nothing in this Agreement shall impair the right of the Charter to terminate 
this Agreement and, at Charter’s option, negotiate a renewal or replacement agreement, license, 
consent, certificate or other authorization with any appropriate government entity.  

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto, by their duly authorized representatives, have executed 

this Agreement and made the same effective as of this 26th day of February, 2024. 

 
Spectrum Southeast, LLC  
By: Charter Communications, Inc., Its Manager 
 
 
By:______________________________  Date:        
Name:  Paul Abbott 
Title:  Vice President, Government Affairs 
 
 
 

THIS ORDINANCE IS ADOPTED AND APPROVED AND EXECUTED THIS 26TH DAY OF FEBRUARY 2024. 
 
 
ATTEST:     CITY OF ALABASTER 
 
 
____________________________  _______________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk   Sophie Martin, Council President 
 
 
APPROVED 
 
 
____________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor 
 
 

Page 23

Item #2.



Having previously been introduced at the ________________ council meeting, Council Member 
_________________ moved the adoption of the following Ordinance, which was seconded by 
Council Member _____________________: 

 

 
ORDINANCE 24-196 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 8-34 OF THE ALABASTER CODE OF ORDINANCES 
(2015) RELATING TO PENALTIES, INTEREST AND DELINQUENT LICENSES 

 
THE PUBLIC GOOD REQUIRING IT, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ALABASTER, ALABAMA AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. Amending Section 8-34 of the Alabaster Code of Ordinances  
 
 Section 8-34 of the Alabaster Code of Ordinances (2015) is hereby amended to read as 
follows: 

Sec. 8-34. Penalties and interest and cancellation. 

(a) All licenses not paid within 30 days from the date they fall due shall be increased by 15 
percent for the first 30 days they shall be delinquent, or fraction thereof, and shall be 
measured by an additional 15 percent for a delinquency of 60 or more days, but this 
provision shall not be deemed to authorize the delay of 30 days in the payment of the 
license due, which may be enforced at once.  

(b) In the case of persons who began business on or after the first day of the calendar year, 
the license for such new business shall be increased by 15 percent for the first 15 days they 
shall be delinquent, and shall be measured by an additional 15 percent for a delinquency of 
45 days or more.  

(c) All delinquent accounts (both license taxes and penalties) shall also be charged at the 
interest rate specified by the Code of Alabama.  

(d) To the extent a licensee underreports gross receipts, the licensee shall be subject to 
penalties and interest on the underreported amount.  

(e) All licenses not renewed by March 1 of the calendar year are deemed canceled. Any 
persons seeking to reinstate a cancelled license must apply for the for a new license that 
shall be subject to all inspections and zoning reviews prior to its issuance. If a new license is 
granted the licensee was doing business shall also pay any penalties and interest that have 
accrued from January 1 to the date of the issuance of the new license. 

All other items and provisions of this Ordinance of the City of Alabaster not herein specifically 
amended shall remain in full force and effect.  
 
This Ordinance shall become effective upon its passage and execution as provided by law. 
 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 26 DAY OF FEBRUARY 2024. 
 
ATTEST:      CITY OF ALABASTER 
 
 
____________________________   ______________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk    Sophie Martin, Council President 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor 

Page 24

Item #3.



Council Member _____________ introduced the following Resolution, which was 
seconded by Council Member _______________ 

 
RESOLUTION 021224-A 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Alabaster, Alabama (hereinafter at times referred to as City) is 

desirous of having certain improvements made on SR-3(US-3 l) within the City Limits of 

Alabaster, in accordance with plans prepared by the Alabama Department of Transportation 

and designated as Project Number: STPAA-0003(655) Resurfacing SR-3(US-3 l) from the 

southern bridge end of the 1-65 Overpass (Exit 231) to Fulton Lane Road in Alabaster (CSX 

Railroad) - and - Project Number: STPAA-0003(656) Resurfacing SR-3(US-31) from Fulton 

Lane Road in Alabaster to the 1-65 Overpass (Exit 238). 

 

WHEREAS, The Alabama Department of Transportation is now or may later be 

desirous of receiving Federal Aid for improvement of said highway; and 

 

WHEREAS, The Federal Highway Administration, an agency of the United States of 

America, will not participate in any funding for the construction of said project until and 

unless the City will agree to certain requirements of the Federal Highway Administration. 

The City, for the purpose of complying with requirements of the Federal Highway 

Administration in regard to its funding of improvements of the type and kind in this 

agreement provided for, does hereby pass and adopt the following resolution: 

 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of Alabaster, that the plans of said project including 

alignment, profile, grades, typical sections and paving layouts as submitted to this City and 

which are now on file in the office of the City Clerk are hereby approved and that the 

location of said project as staked out by the Alabama Department of Transportation and as 

shown by said plans referred to are hereby approved and the Alabama Department of 

Transportation, in cooperation with the Federal Highway Administration, is hereby 

authorized to proceed with the grading, draining, paving, and otherwise improving and 

construction of said project in accordance with said plans. 

The City by and through its Council hereby grants to the Alabama Department of 

Transportation the full use of and access to the dedicated widths of any existing streets for 

the construction of said project and hereby agrees to permit and allow the Alabama 

Department of Transportation to close and barricade the said project and intersecting 

streets for as long as necessary while the said project is being graded, drained, paved, and 

otherwise improved, and hereby agrees that the use of any street or highway for parking 

within an interchange area will not at any time be permitted. 

The City hereby further agrees to adopt or pass such legally effective ordinances 

and/or laws as will permanently barricade and/or relocate certain intersecting streets as 

required by the State and to permanently deny or limit access at certain locations as 

Page 25

Item #4.



Resolution 021224-A ALDOT Project STPAA-0003 (655) and (656) 

 

required by the State along said improvements, all of which are more specifically stated as 

follows: 

 

This project does not require the relocation or barricading of any intersecting streets. 

 

Please refer to: Project Notes      (Sheet 2F) 

Please refer to: Traffic Control Plan Notes   (Sheet 2G) 

Please refer to: Traffic Signal Plan Notes   (Sheet 2H) 

Please refer to: Traffic Control Plan    (Sheets 20 - 28) 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the City Council, that for and in consideration of the 

Alabama Department of Transportation in cooperation with the Federal Highway 

Administration, constructing said highway and routing traffic along the same through the 

City over said project, such City hereby agrees with the Alabama Department of 

Transportation and for the benefit of the Federal Highway Administration, that on the 

above mentioned project the City will not in the future permit encroachments upon the 

right of way; nor will it pass any ordinances or laws fixing a speed limit contrary to those 

limits provided for in Title 32, Chapter 5, Code of Alabama 1975, as amended, and other 

laws of Alabama; nor will it permit other than parallel parking in areas where parking is 

permitted; nor will it allow the placing of any informational, regulatory, or warning signs, 

signals, median crossover, curb and pavement or other markings, and traffic signals without 

written approval of the Alabama Department of Transportation and the Federal Highway 

Administration, of the location, form and character of such installations. The traffic control 

devices and signs installed during construction, and those installed after completion of this 

project shall be in accordance with the latest edition of the national Manual on Uniform 

Traffic Control Devices and accepted standards adopted by the Alabama Department of 

Transportation of the State of Alabama and by the Federal Highway Administration. The City 

further agrees that subsequent traffic control devices deemed necessary by it in keeping 

with applicable statutes, rules and regulations to promote the safe and efficient utilization 

of the highway under the authority of Title 32, Chapter 5, Code of Alabama 1975, and all 

other applicable laws of Alabama, shall be subject to and must have the approval of the 

Alabama Department of Transportation of the State of Alabama and of the Federal Highway 

Administration, prior to installation and the City further agrees that it will enforce traffic and 

control the same under the provisions of Title 32, Chapter 5, Code of Alabama 1975, and 

other applicable laws of Alabama. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26

Item #4.



Resolution 021224-A ALDOT Project STPAA-0003 (655) and (656) 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by this City Council: 

 

1. That the City agrees to perform all maintenance on crossroads, service 
drives, or relocated roads that are not designated Federal or State 
highways that are in the jurisdiction of the City. 

2. That the City agrees to perform all maintenance on any existing road which 
has been replaced by a new road; or, if the existing road is not used, the 
City has the option of vacating same. 

3. That the City agrees to perform all maintenance on interchanges to the 
theoretical crossing of the denied access line. 

4. That the City agrees to perform all maintenance on grade separations along 
the roadway to the end of the bridge, or the denied access fence, 
whichever the case. 

 

It is understood and agreed that no changes in this Resolution or Agreement shall in the 

future be made without having obtained the prior approval of the Federal Highway 

Administration. 

 

THIS RESOLUTION PASSED, ADOPTED, AND APPROVED THIS THE 12TH DAY OF 

FEBRUARY 2024. 

 

ATTEST:     CITY OF ALABASTER 

 

____________________________  _______________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk   Sophie Martin, Council President 
 
APPROVED: 

 

____________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor   
 

CERTIFICATION 
 

I, the undersigned qualified City Clerk of the City of Alabaster, Alabama, do hereby certify 
that the above and foregoing is a true copy of a resolution lawfully passed and adopted 
by the City named therein, at a regular meeting of such Council held on the 12th day of 
February 2024, and that such resolution is on file in the City Clerk's Office. 
 
Given under my hand and the official seal of such City this 12th day of February 

2024. 

 
____________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk   

Page 27

Item #4.



Council Member _____________ introduced the following Resolution, which was seconded by Council 
Member _______________ 
 

 
 

RESOLUTION 021224-B 
 

A RESOLUTION TO SUPPORT THE DECLARING AS SURPLUS AND  
DISPOSAL OF ITEMS WITHIN THE CITY OF ALABASTER 

  
 WHEREAS, the City Administration needs to dispose of certain property within various 
departments, as attached, and;  
 
 WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City Council of the City of Alabaster to agree with this 
request to declare said property as surplus and allow the disposal of said items, in accordance of 
law, as requested. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. That the City Council of the City of Alabaster, Alabama, approves said recommendation 
and declares these items (Exhibit A) from various City of Alabaster Departments be 
considered surplus and allows for the disposal of said items.    
 

2. The City Council also authorizes Mayor Scott Brakefield to execute all documentation 
necessary to complete this transaction and City Clerk, Mark Frey, to attest and file 
required documentation. 

 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 12TH DAY OF FEBRUARY 2024. 
 
 
 
ATTEST:              CITY OF ALABASTER 
 
 
____________________________           ___________________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk            Sophie Martin, Council President 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28

Item #5.



Exhibit A (Resolution 021224-B) 

SURPLUS EQUIPMENT LIST 02-12-2024 
 

QUANTITY  DESCRIPTION   MODEL  SN  MILEAGE 
 

ADMINISTRATION DEPARTMENT 
 
1  Various Desk Pieces and Partitions (for cubicles) 
 
IT DEPARTMENT 
 
1  Large Format Plotter    EQ ID AAA58715 FA003514 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT 
 
1 Various metal pieces and equipment parts, scrap metal, broken bushhogs, pumps (all to 

be sold for scrap) 
 

POLICE DEPARTMENT (OLD POLICE STATION) 
  
16  2 DRAWER FILE CABINETS                      
42  4/5/6 DRAWER FILE CABINETS            
24  MISC DESK SET W/HUTCH                   
4  TOOL BOXES                                            
2  RAT PACK TRUCK STORAGE                    
2  LOCKING LOCKERS W/KEYS                   
4  HANGING MAIL SLOTS                            
6  LOCKING LOCKERS                                  
1  4 DOOR GUN LOCKER W/KEYS               
4  GYM LOCKERS (3 PER SET)                  
1  KITCHEN TABLE W/6 CHAIRS                 
1  CONFERENCE TABLE W/3 CHAIRS         
2  BOOK SHELVES                                       
3  ROLLING FLAT TOP TABLES                       
1  REFRIGERATOR                                         
1  UPRIGHT FREEZER                                  
1  LONG CONFERENCE TABLE                    
3  OUTDOOR RADIO ANTENNAS               

Page 29

Item #5.



02-12-2024 Scrap – Declared Surplus 

Page 30

Item #5.



02-12-2024 Scrap – Declared Surplus 

Page 31

Item #5.



02-12-2024 Scrap – Declared Surplus 

 

Page 32

Item #5.



02-12-2024 Scrap – Declared Surplus 

Page 33

Item #5.



02-12-2024 Scrap – Declared Surplus 

Page 34

Item #5.



02-12-2024 Scrap – Declared Surplus 

Page 35

Item #5.



02-12-2024 Scrap – Declared Surplus 

Page 36

Item #5.



02-12-2024 Scrap – Declared Surplus 

 

Page 37

Item #5.



 

Council Member __________________ introduced the following Resolution, which was seconded by 
Council Member ________________. 
 

 
 

RESOLUTION 021224-C 
 

A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE FUNDING FOR  
THE 2024 GONE FISHIN’ NOT JUST WISHIN’ EVENT  

 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Alabaster, Alabama, have determined 

that it is both wise and expedient to support the Exceptional Anglers event, Gone Fishin’, Not Just 
Wishin’, at Oak Mountain State Park on May 8-10, 2024; and 

 
WHEREAS, this annual event teaches basic fishing skills to students with special needs from 

Alabaster and Pelham city schools and the Shelby and Jefferson county area; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Alabaster commit $3,000 toward this 

event and. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of Alabaster, does hereby 

authorize Scott Brakefield, Mayor of the City of Alabaster and J. Mark Frey, City Clerk, to sign, attest 
and file all documentation necessary to facilitate said agreement. 
 
      Y / N         Y / N  

Sophie Martin  ______   Jamie Cole  ______  
Rick Ellis  ______   Zach Zahariadis ______ 
Stacy Rakestraw ______   Kerri Pate  ______ 
Greg Farrell  ______ 
 

 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 12TH DAY OF FEBRUARY 2024. 
 
 
ATTEST:     CITY OF ALABASTER 
 
 
____________________________  _______________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk   Sophie Martin, Council President 
 
 
APPROVED 
 
 
____________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor 

Page 38

Item #6.



 

Council Member ______________________ introduced the following Resolution, which 
was seconded by Council Member _______________ 
 

 

 

 
 

RESOLUTION 021224-D 
 

AUTHORIZING APPLICATION AND ACCEPTANCE OF THE SHELBY COUNTY SENIOR 
CENTER GRANT FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024 

 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Alabaster Senior Center provides many services to the seniors in 
the community such as meals, activities, services, programs to promote health and 
wellness, educational, and recreational opportunities; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Alabaster Senior Center Director, has applied for and received a grant 
through Shelby County to aid with expenses for said services; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council are in support of the application for a Senior Center 
Recreational / Educational Resources grant for Fiscal Year 2024 through Shelby County 
in the amount of $2,000.00 to assist with programs and services. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the City Council of the City of Alabaster does hereby 
authorize Scott Brakefield, Mayor of the City of Alabaster, to sign all documentation 
necessary for grant application and Mark Frey, City Clerk to keep a copy on file in the 
Clerk’s Office.  
 
 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 12TH DAY OF FEBRUARY 2024. 
 
 
ATTEST:     CITY OF ALABASTER, ALABAMA 
 
 
____________________________  _______________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk   Sophie Martin, Council President 
 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor 

Page 39

Item #7.



Council Member _________________ moved adoption of the following Resolution, 
which was seconded by Council Member __________________. 

 

 
 

RESOLUTION 021224-E 
 

APPROVING ISSUANCE OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE LICENSE  
LEXY EXPRESS LLC / I65 CHEVRON 

 

WHEREAS, the owners of Lexy Express LLC dba I65 Chevron, have applied for a 

050 – Retail Beer (Off Premises Only) and 070 – Retail Wine (Off Premises Only) Alcohol 

License at 1100 1ST ST S Alabaster, and 

 

WHEREAS, the requested license will include the following: 

 

 050 – Retail Beer (Off Premises Only), and  

 070 – Retail Wine (Off Premises Only) 

 

 WHEREAS, all associated requirements within the City of Alabaster in relation to 

the ABC License have been met. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

ALABASTER, ALABAMA, that the City of Alabaster grants its consent to and approval of 

the issuance of such license, subject to the laws and regulations governing such license. 

 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 12TH DAY OF FEBRUARY 2024. 

 
ATTEST:     CITY OF ALABASTER 
 
 
____________________________  _______________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk   Sophie Martin, Council President 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor 

Page 40

Item #8.



Council Member _________________ moved adoption of the following Resolution, 
which was seconded by Council Member __________________. 
 

 
RESOLUTION 021224-F 

 
AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO SIGN AGREEMENTS FOR  

GENERAL LIABILITY, WORKERS COMPENSATION AND CYBER LIABILITY INSURANCE 
 

 WHEREAS, Alabama Municipal Insurance Corporation (AMIC) provides insurance 
coverage for Property, Crime, Equipment, Commercial General Liability, Police Liability, 
Public Officials E&O, Automobile and Additional Liability Limits to the City of Alabaster; 
and 

 
 WHEREAS, Municipal Workers Compensation Fund, INC (MWCF) provides workers 
compensation insurance coverage for the City of Alabaster; and 

 
 WHEREAS, Risk Placement Services (RPS) – Lloyds of London provides cyber 
liability insurance coverage for the City of Alabaster; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the annual cost for these policies is already included in the City’s 
FY2024 Budget; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Alabaster, Alabama, have 
determined that it is both wise and expedient to, while working within the constraints of 
the existing budget, to authorize the Mayor to sign the following:  

 

 Liability Insurance Policy with AMIC for a total annual premium of 
$585,592. 

 Workers Compensation Insurance Policy with MWCF for a total annual 
premium of 371,679. 

 Cyber Liability Insurance Policy with RPS – Lloyds of London for a total 
annual premium of $28,150. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of Alabaster, 

does hereby authorize Scott Brakefield, Mayor of the City of Alabaster, to sign all 
documentation necessary to facilitate said contracts and Mark Frey, City Clerk, to attest 
and file required documentation. 
 

   Y / N              Y / N 
Sophie Martin  ______ 
Rick Ellis  ______ 
Stacy Rakestraw ______ 
Greg Farrell  ______ 

Jamie Cole  ______ 
Zach Zahariadis ______ 
Kerri Pate  ______ 

 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 12TH DAY OF FEBRUARY 2024. 
             
ATTEST:      CITY OF ALABASTER 
 
 
____________________________  _____________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk    Sophie Martin, Council President  
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor 

Page 41

Item #9.



Council Member _________________ moved adoption of the following Resolution, 
which was seconded by Council Member __________________. 
 

 
RESOLUTION 021224-G 

 
AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO SIGN AGREEMENT WITH  

TRAINFO FOR RAILROAD CROSSING STATUS REPORTING PROJECT 
 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Alabaster wishes to inform citizens of 
blocked railway crossings, decrease traffic congestion, increase safety and reduce delays 
for emergency responders; and 

 
 WHEREAS, TrainFo provides a predictive rail crossing blockage program that helps 
generate rail crossing information to support traffic management through integrated 
signage, traffic signals and dispatch software; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Alabaster, Alabama, have 
determined that it is both wise and expedient to authorize a one-year agreement with 
TrainFo to cover the two Norfolk Southern crossings; and 

 
 WHEREAS, program cost for the one year pilot program is $38,990 of which, the 
City has applied for and received a $15,000 grant from Norfolk Southern to assist with the 
cost of this pilot program, bringing the year one total to $23,990 with a cost of $18,000 
annually after the initial term.  

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of Alabaster, 

does hereby authorize Scott Brakefield, Mayor of the City of Alabaster, to sign all 
documentation necessary to facilitate said contract and Mark Frey, City Clerk, to attest 
and file required documentation. 
 

   Y / N              Y / N 
Sophie Martin  ______ 
Rick Ellis  ______ 
Stacy Rakestraw ______ 
Greg Farrell  ______ 

Jamie Cole  ______ 
Zach Zahariadis ______ 
Kerri Pate  ______ 

 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 12TH DAY OF FEBRUARY 2024. 
             
ATTEST:      CITY OF ALABASTER 
 
 
____________________________  _____________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk    Sophie Martin, Council President  
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor 

Page 42

Item #10.



 

Council Member ______________________ introduced the following Resolution, which 
was seconded by Council Member _______________ 
 

 

 

 
 

RESOLUTION 021224-H 
 

AUTHORIZING APPLICATION AND ACCEPTANCE OF  
VARIOUS COMMUNITY AND BUSINESS GRANTS  

 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Alabaster strives to utilize every available source to provide services 
for the unique needs of our community; and  
 
WHEREAS, periodically, select retailers and organizations offer local communities the 
opportunity to apply for grants to assist various city departments with persistent and 
immediate needs; and 
 
WHEREAS, these grants require no city matching funds and therefore have no negative 
impact on the annual budget. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the City Council of the City of Alabaster does hereby 
authorize all city departments to apply for and accept local grants for which there are no 
matching funds required by the city; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Mayor of the City of Alabaster is authorized to sign 
all documentation necessary for grant execution and Mark Frey, City Clerk, to attest and 
keep a copy on file in the Clerk’s Office.  
 
 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 12TH DAY OF FEBRUARY 2024. 
 
 
ATTEST:     CITY OF ALABASTER, ALABAMA 
 
 
____________________________  _______________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk   Sophie Martin, Council President 
 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor 

Page 43

Item #11.



Council Member _________________ moved adoption of the following Resolution, 
which was seconded by Council Member __________________. 

 

 
 

RESOLUTION 021224-I 
 

APPROVING ISSUANCE OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE LICENSE  
KENT STORE DEVELOPMENT LLC / KENT KWIK 920 

 

WHEREAS, the owners of Lexy Express LLC dba I65 Chevron, have applied for a 

050 – Retail Beer (Off Premises Only) and 070 – Retail Wine (Off Premises Only) Alcohol 

License at 1565 Simmsville Rd Alabaster, and 

 

WHEREAS, the requested license will include the following: 

 

 050 – Retail Beer (Off Premises Only), and  

 070 – Retail Wine (Off Premises Only) 

 

 WHEREAS, all associated requirements within the City of Alabaster in relation to 

the ABC License have been met. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

ALABASTER, ALABAMA, that the City of Alabaster grants its consent to and approval of 

the issuance of such license, subject to the laws and regulations governing such license. 

 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 12TH DAY OF FEBRUARY 2024. 

 
ATTEST:     CITY OF ALABASTER 
 
 
____________________________  _______________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk   Sophie Martin, Council President 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor 

Page 44

Item #12.



Having been previously introduced during the February 12,2024, Council Meeting, Council 
Member _________________________ introduced the following Resolution, which was 
seconded by Council Member _________________. 
 

 

 
 

RESOLUTION 022624 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE PLACEMENT OF LIEN  
ON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1226 THOMPSON RD 

 
WHEREAS, on Monday November 27, 2023, with Resolution 112723, the Council, upon 
recommendation of the Fire Marshal and Code Enforcement, declared 1226 THOMPSON 
RD/PIN 23 2 10 1 007 061.000, in the City of Alabaster, Alabama, Owner IMAX Marketing 
LLC, to be a public nuisance; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Fire Marshal and Code Enforcement has made a report to the Council of 
the cost of abatement on said property in the total amount of $482.13 for the abatement 
of weeds; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Administration advised the Council that an additional cost of $426.61 for 
advertising, legal fees, recording fees and postage are associated with this abatement; 
and, 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, AFTER DUE CONSIDERATION, BE IT RESOLVED, 
 

1. That costs in the amount of $908.74 are hereby assessed against 1226 
THOMPSON RD/PIN 23 2 10 1 007 061.000, in the City of Alabaster, Alabama. 

2. That the Clerk is to hereby publish a copy of this resolution in the manner 
prescribed. 

3. That the Clerk is hereby directed to mail a certified copy of this resolution by 
certified or registered mail to the person last assessed for ad valorem taxes on 
the property. 

4. That the Clerk is hereby directed to file a certified copy of this resolution in the 
Probate Court of Shelby County, Alabama. 

 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 26TH DAY OF FEBRUARY 2024. 
 
ATTEST:           CITY OF ALABASTER, ALABAMA 
 
 
____________________________       ________________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk        Sophie Martin, Council President 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor 

Page 45

Item #13.



Council Member ________________________ introduced the following Resolution, which was 
seconded by Council Member _____________________. 

 
 

RESOLUTION 021224-J 
 

RESOLUTION REGARDING LIGHTING AGREEMENT WITH 
ALABAMA POWER TRAFFIC SIGNAL METERS AT 

PATRIOTS PARK, VETERANS PARK, SMOKEY ROAD/119,  
1ST AVE WEST/CR 17, AND FULTON SPRINGS/119 

 
WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City Council of the City of Alabaster, Alabama, to provide 
our citizens and children with a safe and secure environment, and  

 
WHEREAS, the City had installed three new traffic signals down Hwy 119 at Fulton Springs 
Road, Smokey Road, Veteran’s Park, and two other signals at Patriots Park and Industrial 
and 1st Ave W at CR 17; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that it is both wise and expedient to enter 
into agreements with Alabama Power Company for the power metered to these signals 
for the safety and welfare of the citizens of Alabaster.  

 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Alabaster, Alabama,  

 
1. The City enter into an agreement with Alabama Power for metered power 

to the referenced signals and such costs be paid from the General Fund. 
 

2. The City Council also directs Scott Brakefield, Mayor and Mark Frey, City 
Clerk, to execute any and all documentation necessary on behalf of the 
City to complete this transaction. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that upon the completion of the execution of the agreement 
by all parties, that a copy of such agreement be kept on file by the City Clerk. 
 
     Y / N         Y / N  

Sophie Martin  ______   Jamie Cole  ______  
Rick Ellis  ______   Zach Zahariadis ______ 
Stacy Rakestraw ______   Kerri Pate  ______ 
Greg Farrell  ______ 

 
PASSED, ADOPTED, AND APPROVED THIS 12TH DAY OF FEBRUARY 2024. 
 
 
ATTEST:                                                         CITY OF ALABASTER 
 
 
____________________________                  __________________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk   Sophie Martin, Council President  
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor 
 

Page 46

Item #14.


	Top
	Item #A.	01-22-2024 Minutes - Regular City Council Meeting
	01-22-2024 Minutes - Regular City Council Meeting

	Item #B.	02-08-2024 Minutes - Work Session City Council
	02-08-2024 Minutes - Work Session City Council

	Item #C.	Resolution 021224 Mayoral Beautification Board Appointments
	Resolution 021224 Mayoral Beautification Board Appointments

	Item #D.	Arbor Day Proclamation 2024
	Arbor Day Proclamation 2024

	Item #1.	*Ordinance 24-194 Amending Administrative Sections of the Zoning Ordinance of the City of Alabaster
	Ordinance 24-194 Amending Administrative Sections of the Zoning Ordinance of the City of Alabaster 05 JAN 2024

	Item #2.	**Ordinance 24-195 Authorizing Franchise Agreement with Spectrum Southeast dba Charter Communications Inc
	Ordinance 24-195 Authorizing Franchise Agreement with Spectrum Southeast dba Charter Communications Inc v2 - 9 Feb 2024

	Item #3.	**Ordinance 24-196 Cancelling Delinquent Business Licenses on March 1 of Each Year
	Ordinance 24-196 Cancelling Delinquent Business Licenses on March 1 of each year v2 - 9 Feb 2024

	Item #4.	Resolution 021224-A Authorizing Agreement with ALDOT for Project No STPAA-003(655) and (656)
	Resolution 021224-A Authorizing Agreement with ALDOT for Project No STPAA-003(655) and (656)

	Item #5.	Resolution 021224-B Declaring Items within Various Departments as Surplus
	Resolution 021224-B Declaring Items within Various Departments as Surplus
	Surplus Environmental Services 02-12-2024

	Item #6.	Resolution 021224-C Authorizing Funding for 2024 Gone Fishin Not Just Wishin Event
	Resolution 021224-C Authorizing Funding for 2024 Gone Fishin Not Just Wishin Event

	Item #7.	Resolution 021224-D Authorize and Accept Grant Application for Senior Center
	Resolution 021224-D Authorize and Accept Grant Application for Senior Center

	Item #8.	Resolution 021224-E Approving Issuance of ABC License -Lexy Express LLC dba I65 Chevron
	Resolution 021224-E Approving Issuance of ABC License - i65 Chevron

	Item #9.	Resolution 021224-F Authorizing Agreements General Liability Workers Comp and Cyber Insurance
	Resolution 021224-F Authorizing Agreements General Liability Workers Comp and Cyber Insurance

	Item #10.	Resolution 021224-G Authorizing Agreement with TrainFo
	Resolution 021224-G Authorizing Agreement with TrainFo

	Item #11.	Resolution 021224-H Authorize and Accept Grant Applications for the City of Alabaster
	Resolution 021224-H Authorize and Accept Grant Applications for the City of Alabaster

	Item #12.	Resolution 021224-I Approving Issuance of ABC License - Kent Kwik 920
	Resolution 021224-I Approving Issuance of ABC License - Kent Kwik 920

	Item #13.	**Resolution 022624 Assessing Weed Abatement Cost for 1226 Thompson Rd
	Resolution 022624 Assessing Weed Abatement Cost for 1226 Thompson Rd

	Item #14.	Resolution 021224-J Street Lighting and Traffic Agreement
	Resolution 021224-J Street Lighting and Traffic Agreement

	Bottom

